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SECTION 1. Introduction
1.1 What is a Turnpike? The idea arrived with early settlers from England. Toll gates were constructed with long pikes directed toward vehicles. A long timber or “pike” stopped traffic for the toll collection. Once the toll was paid, the pikes were then “turned” out of the way for traffic or animals to pass, hence, the term turnpike. 
Steve Frost, in his book Nine Exceptional Miles, states the following regarding Franklin Pike: “Toll Gates lined the length from Columbia to the hamlet of Brentwood.  Sarah Morrow from Spring Hill left us this description: “All of the toll gates were nothing more than a young sapling weighted on one end with a big rock wired in place, past over the rights of way and fastened securely with rope that could easily be reached from a dankly front porch.  They were crude but workable.”
From the 1830’s-1850’s, toll roads, or turnpikes, were common throughout the country, including Tennessee. Private individuals or companies-built roads and then charged a fee or toll to travel on them. Toll houses were built next to the turnpikes, from which company employes collected tolls and fees 24 hours per day. These houses required a measurable investment from the trusts. The standard toll house design adopted in the 1820s was a small, single-story cottage with a bay front to facilitate collection.
After the 1850s toll roads and turnpikes became increasingly unpopular. In 1899 state law authorized counties to buy turnpikes from private companies and free the pikes from tolls. However, their demise was assured by the Federal Aid Act of 1916, which prohibited the use of federal aid for highway construction on roads with tolls. As a result, the Tennessee State Highway Commission authorized county courts to remove the tolls and institute condemnation proceedings if necessary. The last toll road in Tennessee, the Nashville to Franklin Turnpike (present day State Route 6/Franklin Road), was made free of charge in 1926. 










1.2 Map of Turnpike Locations[footnoteRef:1] [1:  Map by J. Grosson, BHC] 
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1.3 Period Maps snd Links
People genuinely interested in history are fascinated with period maps. It would be worth the reader’s time to enter the below address to see an 1878 color map of Williamson County, from the D. G. Beers Co. of Philadelphia, showing roads, railroads, streams, schools, stores, residences with owner's names, post offices, and different-colored civil districts. This map can be seen in paragraph 2.6.1. https://teva.contentdm.oclc.org/digital/collection/p15138coll23/id/343/rec/1

Civil War era maps are always interesting given how armies depended upon knowledge of the geography for logistics and military strategies. The link below is a Benjamin F. Cheatham Civil War map of Nashville and surrounding counties showing cities and towns, roads, turnpikes, toll roads, railroads, rivers and streams. Cheatham was a corps commander in the Confederate Army of Tennessee.          https://teva.contentdm.oclc.org/digital/collection/p15138coll23/id/62
The link below will open to a Civil War map of the country traversed by the Nashville and Northwestern Railroad and the Nashville, Decatur and Stevenson Railroad.  Noting that railroads and waterways were principal means for transporting troops, ammunition and supplies. This map basically depicts Nashville south to Columbia and west to the Tennessee River. The new Federal depot and supply installation at Johnsonville is shown. https://teva.contentdm.oclc.org/digital/collection/p15138coll23/id/109/
1.4 What is a macadamized road? Franklin Turnpike was one of the first macadam roads in the Williamson County area. Macadam type construction was developed by Scottish engineer John Loudon McAdam in the early 19th century. It revolutionized road building at the time and had an immense impact on the development of today’s modern road infrastructure. 
Prior to McAdam’s innovations, roads were poorly constructed. Surfaces were uneven, unreliable, and often unsafe. McAdam sought to improve road quality, safety, and longevity by introducing his systematic and scientifically based construction method. This involved layering broken stones of various sizes onto a roadbed. These stones were then carefully compacted and arranged to create a solid, level surface. Larger stones were placed at the bottom, forming a stable foundation, while smaller stones were used for the upper layers. This arrangement allowed for proper drainage and prevented the road from becoming waterlogged. In addition to the stone layers, he used a binding material, typically smaller stones, or gravel, to fill the gaps between the larger stones. This binding material served to strengthen the road’s surface and improve its load-bearing capacity.
Today’s road building practices incorporate vitrified brick, or bituminous macadam, or gravel with a binder coating like asphalt. Also, cement stabilized macadam incorporates rubber powder particles, or various polyvinyl alcohol fiber contents. Anyone interested in these subjects can search the American Society of Civil Engineers website and scan journal articles.
[image: A group of men working on a road

Description automatically generated]
Workers are breaking stones "so as not to exceed 6 ounces (170 g) in weight or to pass a two-inch (5 cm) ring." 
[footnoteRef:2] [2:  Carl Rakeman - US Department of Transportation (https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/rakeman/1823.htm) ] 


                [image: Macadamised Road][footnoteRef:3] [3:  Example of an 1850’s Macadamized Road – Sutter County Library, CA, USA] 





1.5 Tennessee Toll Fees. {source, former Brentwood City Historian, T. Vance Little}
Tolls were strictly regulated by the legislature. They were paid at every toll gate. We are not sure the year for which these tolls applied. 
· $0.10 for every 20 head of hogs or sheep 
·  $0.25 for 20 head of horned or meat cattle
·  $0.25 for every horse or mule not drawing a carriage 
· $0.25 for a Pleasure carriage 
· $0.10 for a two-wheel carriage  
· $0.25 for a loaded wagon drawn by four or more horses 
· $0.10 for an empty wagon  
· $0.05 for a man and horse 
· $0.10 for a Buggy drawn by one horse










Other Tolls: (Source ~ National Park Service) The Memphis, Somerville, and Bolivar Turnpike, incorporated in January 1838, planned to have 10 tollgates, and charge the following fares:
	Item
	Cost

	20 head of sheep or hogs
	$.30

	20 head of horned or neat cattle
	$.50

	Horse or mule not in a drove
	$.06 ¼, if in a drove $.03

	Pleasure carriage
	$.18 ¾

	Loaded wagon
	$.18 ¾

	Empty wagon
	$.12 ½

	Cart
	$.12 ½

	Foot passenger
	$.06 ¼


“We paid Forty dollars at the Walerns [sic] Ridge gate, and the man agreed to let the other Detachments pass at half price viz 37 ½ for four wheeled Carriages & 6 ¼ for a horse. On the Cumberland Mountain they fleeced us: 75 Cents a wagon & 12 ½ Cents a horse without the least abatement of thanks. We will avoid several gates on the road to Nashville.”
 - Evan Jones, traveling with the Situwakee detachment, to Principal Chief John Ross, October 27, 1838













1.6  Sketch of some Toll House Locations
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Description automatically generated with medium confidence][footnoteRef:4] [4:  T. Vance Little’s files, Williamson County Archives. (Note the proposed extension of Granny White Pike.)] 
Descendant John Sneed Jones states that the Toll House was here

SECTION 2. Turnpikes in Brentwood: Reference Table Below
	Turnpike
	Current Name
	Date of Incorporation
	Original Incorporators
	Tollgate Location

	Edmondson Turnpike (Owen-Winstead Turnpike)
	Edmondson Pike
	1852
	John M. Winstead, James B. Owen, Luke L. Smith, Jeremiah Primm, Hezekiah Hill, John P. Chadwell, Jr., Henry Tindall
	1) Corner of Nolensville Road and Edmondson Pike
2) Corner of Old Hickory Boulevard and Edmondson Pike

	Hollow Tree Gap Road then Jackson Highway
	Franklin Road
	1829
	Randall McGavock, John Watson, James Swanson, Lawrence Bryan, Joseph Wood, Robert B. Currey, Henry R.W. Hill, Robert Weakley, William Hadley, Christopher McEwen, John C. McLemore, Philip Pipkin, John Thompson
	1)Corner of Franklin Road and Concord Road

	Granny White Turnpike
	Granny White Pike
	1850
	John Nickel, Henry Compton, Dr. William Lawrence, Thomas McCrory, James Walker, Edward Bradford, William Sawyers
	 

	Harpeth Turnpike
	Wilson Pike
	1837
	James Hazard Wilson
	1) One mile South of Brentwood Intersection with Smyrna Road
2) The Vernon Sharp House on Split Log Road
3) Southwest corner of Shag Rag Road

	Liberty Pike, parts of: Harvey Pike, Old Liberty Rd, and Franklin and Nolensville Pike 
	Liberty Pike
	1859
	Daniel B. Cliffe, Robert B. Carothers, Thomas Buchanan, Lewis Cook, Robert Buchanan, W.H.S. Hill, John W. Harvey, Henry J. Walker, John Crockett, Alpheus Truett, John H. Poynor
	 

	Hillsborough Turnpike
	Hillsboro Road
	1848
	William Scruggs, William Edmiston, James McCutchen, John B. Murrey, Moses E. Cator, John B. McCutchen, W.T. Tucker, Robert Tucker, Samuel E. McCutcheon, M.T. Byrn
	Between current day Old Hickory Boulevard and Harpeth Presbyterian Church


2.1 Franklin Pike 
This Pike started out as Hollow Tree Gap Road and was once known as Jackson Highway. Its original route was from Franklin to Holly Tree Gap. It was extended to the Brentwood Town Center (then at the intersection of Franklin Pike and Old Hickory Boulevard). Its route was laid out to originally follow an old buffalo trail then went to the salt licks in Nashville. North of Brentwood, it followed a path of what is now Franklin Pike Circle and was East of the Railroad tracks. In 1928 and 1929 it was rebuilt to be West of the railroad. There were four toll gates between Franklin and Nashville. It is now known as Franklin Road.
 The road was originally established as the Franklin Turnpike (also referred to as State Route 6 and Franklin Road) by the Franklin Turnpike Company in 1829. If the reports are true, it was the first toll road established in Tennessee by the legislature in 1829, the last to charge a toll as it eliminated the toll in 1926, and the first paved road in Tennessee. 
Private Acts of 1829, Chapter 205, appointed Randal McGavock, John Watson, James Swanson, Lawrence Bryan, Joseph Wood, Robert B. Currey, Henry R. W. Hill, Robert Weakley, William Hadley, Christopher E. McEwen, John C. McLemore, and Phillip Pipkin, as commissioners to receive subscriptions of stock up to $75,000 to build a turnpike from Nashville to Franklin. The company would be named the Franklin Turnpike Company.
The creation of the Franklin Turnpike Company came at the last day of December 1829, five years prior to the 1834 state constitution’s endorsement of a statewide system of internal improvements and six years before later expansions in state internal improvement programs for turnpikes in the late 1830s. Turnpikes, along with banks and railroads, were the primary economic development tools pursued by stockholders and investors, as well as state and local officials during these internal improvement campaigns. The Tennessee General Assembly approved the first state turnpike corporation in late 1829 by chartering the Franklin Turnpike Company. This charter was later amended in 1835 and 1837. When the turnpike opened for business in 1838, John Thompson was among the initial stockholders of the company.
The act of 1829 was amended in 1831 to authorize the “erection of four toll gates, the one nearest to Nashville to be at the turn of the road near Joseph W. Horton's house about 1 1/4 miles from Broad St.; that nearest Franklin to be at least 2 miles from that place; and the other two to be located by Major Thomas Edmondson, the Superintendent of the road.”  The same act increased the capital stock to $90,000 and required 9 directors to be elected. The road was completed to Franklin at a cost of about $75,000. {source, Nashville History on Facebook}.
[bookmark: _Hlk174171516]There is a lot of curiosity about the toll-gate house at the intersection of Franklin Road and Concord Road. On the 6th of May 1868 the toll house was totally destroyed with loss of life.  In May of 1868 Thomas Chumbley was the toll-gate keeper at the Franklin Pike and now Concord Road Toll House.  In addition to keeping the gate, Mr. Chumbley followed the trade of a shoemaker and lived with his wife and four children at the tollhouse.  On the early evening of May 6,1868, a terrible tornado passed through Brentwood and the destruction left in its wake was extensively described in a newspaper article in The Republican Banner the next day. 
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[footnoteRef:5] [5:  Republican Banner Nashville, Tennessee · Friday, May 08, 1868, p. 4] 



Mr. Chumbley’s near neighbor Mr. W. McManus, described the sight he saw as he left his house. The toll house that had been occupied by all of the Chumbley family had totally disappeared. “Not a post or plank was left in its place.  The house was literally a mass of ruins, yet the storm had not lasted 5 minutes”.  “The storm had converted it into kindling wood and a pile of bricks. Not a stick or a stone was left upon another”. Only two children of the Chumbley family survived the destructive storm. Mr. Chumley and his infant son were killed during the tornado and Mrs. Chumley and her 3-year-old son died later from injuries sustained during the storm. With clean-up came the rebuilding of the toll house.
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The Williamson County Historian, Rick Warwick, also advised that the Franklin Road Toll-Gate was later destroyed in a fire. The present log house was brought in and installed on the same site. The toll-gates were removed in July 1925. [footnoteRef:6] [6:  Brentwood Historic Commission Archive] 



In 1926 the Franklin Turnpike Company sold the one-acre Toll gate lot to A.J. Sullivan (Williamson County Deed Book 55 p 188). He repurposed the toll house and created a storehouse.  It is not known if it received the name the “Tollgate Tavern” with Mr. Sullivan’s ownership or when the tollgate lot was sold by Sullivan in 1929 to R. E. Guthrie (Williamson County Deed Book 60 p 12). It was later sold as a private residential home and so has remained.     
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[footnoteRef:7] [7:  Williamson County, Tennessee, Archives] 

	
                    [image: ]
                          Original Toll-Gate and House on Franklin Pike and Concord Road[footnoteRef:8] [8:  Photo Provided by Rick Warwick] 


Well known artist and historian, Steve Ford, is the current resident of the log home shown earlier. He provided the following information regarding previous residents.
Toll House Owners, Renters and Squatters
From Roadhouse Days to Residence Days
1935	Emma McPherson, W.A. Roberts to heirs John and Edna Little and W.P. Cooper
1941	Preston Scales
1941	C.B. Whitworth, W.A. Johnson
1943	A. W. Ferguson, Maggie L. Ferguson, Mamie Callender 
1944	J. W. Harvey, George F. Buchanan, W.P. Mullens, George W. Johnston
1945	Hugh and Sarah Jackson, Ruby McKay
1955	Homer and Lula Cambell, J. M. and Jennie Kelly
1955	Tommy and Lillian Jennette, Alex and Lela Johnson
1955	J. C. and Elvin Noland, William M. King, Robert E. King, Mary King Jordan
1955	H. H. Sudberry, T. C. Fox, Allie and Paul Alexander to Tom and Herman Ayres
1962	J. B. Gilliam
1963	Pritchett to Crafts (Gillums)
	Henry and Mary Sampson, Ada Craft
Unsure	William Packard
	Lynn Eskridge
	Elaina Ambert
2006	Stephen F. Hensley
2018	Steve Ford
                         

[image: Franklin Pike Toll Receipt.pdf - Personal - Microsoft​ Edge]                                                                         Franklin Pike Toll Receipt from 1893 [footnoteRef:9] [9:  Williamson County Archives] 
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                          Request for bids from Clerk of the court for Franklin Pike [footnoteRef:10] [10:  The Tennessean Nashville, Tennessee · Saturday, April 19, 1879, p. 2] 

     


2.2 Wilson Pike
[bookmark: _Hlk162010857]Wilson Pike originally designated by the State as “Harpeth Turnpike”, was chartered in 1837 and named after James Hazard. Wilson, president of the Harpeth Turnpike Company. 
The thirteen-mile-long Wilson Turnpike was once a toll road. James Hazard Wilson owned many working farms in Brentwood, as well as in other states. He also owned a steamboat company. Considered one of the wealthiest men in the area, he built Ravenswood, Inglehame, and Oak Hall homes, the latter two for his children.
                                  [image: A group of people standing on a porch

Description automatically generated][footnoteRef:11] [11:  Photo provided by descendant, John Sexton] 

                                                                      Wilson Pike Toll House
Family descendant, John Sexton, identifies the older lady, center, as Tinnie Sarah Elizabeth Tennessee Rivers Pritchett. The young lady on her right is 'Cousin Ethel'. The man on the porch with the rifle is John. The male children are Egbert, Elbert and Stuart.

The toll houses on Wilson Pike were located as follows: 
· One mile south of the Brentwood Intersection with Old Smyrna Road
· At Inglehame, (Vernon Sharp House) on Split Log Road and Wilson Pike.
· Southwest Corner of Shag Rag Road 


[image: A black and white photo of a house

Description automatically generated]Wilson Pike Toll House near Split Log Road
Curtesy of Rick Warwick


In 1847 a proposal was made to change the toll-gate on Wilson Pike from old Smyrna Road to Concord Rd. There was considerable objection to this resulting in another petition. It was delivered to the legislature and signed by most of the residents of Brentwood who lived in the Wilson Pike area. included were James Johnson, Collin McDaniel, David Johnson. Lancelot Johnson, Laben Walters, Thomas Petway, Andrew Crockett, Ferdinand Stith, Nathan Owen, Everett Owen, David Porterfield Hadley, Jesse Phillips, William Sneed, Daniel Carmack, John Edmondson, Robert N. Hebert, David Bell, Richard Hightower, William Robards and Pierce Waller.

                   








SKETCH SHOWING INTERSECTION OF WILSON AND FRANKLIN PIKES
[image: ][footnoteRef:12] [12:  Williamson County Archives] 

2.3 Edmondson Pike
Built by the Owen-Winstead Turnpike Company, the road we know today as Edmondson Pike was originally called Owen-Winstead Pike. In October 1849, a bill put in front of the Tennessee State Legislature authorized the company’s charter and allowed it to begin collecting investors’ capital to build the road. Original Williamson County incorporators of the Owen-Winstead Turnpike Company included John M. Winstead, James B. Owen, Luke L. Smith, Jeremiah Primm, Hezekiah Hill, John P. Chadwell Jr., and Henry Tindell. 
The turnpike would be eight miles long, beginning at Nolensville Turnpike and running in a south-westerly direction. There were likely only two toll-gates located on the Owen-Winstead Turnpike. One was at the intersection with Nolensville Pike and another at Old Hickory Boulevard, also known as Nippers Corner. With the short length of the planned turnpike and few toll gates, the Owen-Winstead Turnpike was not set up to become a big revenue generating venture for its investors. Even though the state of Tennessee allocated a portion of the tolls collected from the Nolensville Turnpike Company to help fund construction, it took the Owen-Winstead Turnpike Company nearly ten years to raise enough additional capital to begin building the road. Construction was authorized to begin in January 1859.
In the end, investors in the Owen-Winstead Turnpike Company did not see a huge return on their investment. In 1852, one share of the company could be purchased for $2.50 and by 1898 when Meredith P.G. Winstead, former President of the Owen-Wilson Turnpike Company and the son of original incorporator John M. Winstead, died a share was valued at $25.00. 
So how did the Owen-Winstead Turnpike become Edmondson Pike? In the 1950s, the Williamson County Commission decreed that all county roads needed a name. Although the Owen and Winstead families helped in the establishment and building of the road and lived on the southern end, there were a large number of Edmondson family members who lived on the road and as far back as the first road record documenting the turnpike, the Edmondson family and the hands that occupied the land surrounding the road were largely recruited to maintain the area and it was so named Edmondson Pike.
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1849 authorization of Owen-Winstead Turnpike Company[footnoteRef:13] [13:  Nashville Union and American Nashville, Tennessee · Friday, October 26, 1849, p.2 
] 
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1859 incorporation of Owen-Winstead Turnpike Company[footnoteRef:14] [14:  The Tennessean Nashville, Tennessee · Monday, October 14, 1901, p 7 
] 
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Authorization of State funds for Owen-Winstead Turnpike[footnoteRef:15] [15:  Nashville Union and American Nashville, Tennessee · Saturday, February 02, 1850, p 2 

] 
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[footnoteRef:16] [16:  Republican Banner Nashville, Tennessee · Wednesday, November 10, 1852, p. 2] 
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Meredith P.G. Winstead President of Owen-Winstead Turnpike Company[footnoteRef:17] [17:  The Daily American, April 22, 1888] 
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1886 sale of Owen-Winstead stock at much less than purchase price[footnoteRef:18] [18:  Nashville Banner, Jan 2, 1888] 


[image: A close up of a handwriting

Description automatically generated]
Probate record excerpt of Meredith P. Gentry Winstead (1844-1898), former President of the Owen-Winstead Turnpike Company and son of original incorporator, John M. Winstead.[footnoteRef:19] [19:  Williamson County Archives] 


2.4 Granny White Pike
                                         [image: A person holding a sign
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The Granny White Turnpike company was incorporated on January 25th, 1850.  John Nickel, Henry Compton, Doctor William Lawrence, Thomas McCrory, James Walker, Edward Bradford, and William Sawyers, or any three of them, were authorized to open books for subscription to the stock of the company. Granny White Pike, like the other pikes, was a macadam road. It had been once called the Middle Road and was the main pathway from Nashville to Franklin until the pike was built. It ran in the southerly direction to the Williamson County line and was completed in 1855. Today it extends into Brentwood as the Granny White Pike. However, while called a “Pike” the authors have not found convincing information of a toll house on the section located in what would be Brentwood today. Granny White Pike is included in this document because of its rich history and significant events associated with it.
It was initially built to run Southward from Nashville to the Williamson County line in 1847. The Turnpike company wanted to extend the road to Franklin. There was major opposition to the proposal.  A petition was delivered to the state legislator from the Williamson County court requesting the road not be built. It was signed by each Wiliam County court member.
Granny White Turnpike saw a considerable amount of action during the Civil War and especially the Battle of Nashville. Section three describes elements of the action that took place.
                  [image: A close-up of a newspaper
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2.5 Hillsboro Pike 
Today the northwestern city limit of Brentwood follows along Hillsboro Pike south from Old Hickory Boulevard to Beech Creek Road. Although the distance of Hillsboro Pike included within the City of Brentwood today is less than one mile, the development of Hillsboro Pike was important to the growth and history of the western side of the city.
1200’s – 1700’s – Animal Path to Wilderness Trail
[bookmark: _Hlk171324362]The road we now call Hillsboro Pike follows an ancient path made by buffalo and other animals traveling from the big salt lick near the Cumberland River to the area around the Little Harpeth River. Over thousands of years, Native American hunters followed this path as they tracked big game forming a naturally worn wilderness trail or “trace.”  Evidence of a large population of Native American Mississippian people living in this rich hunting ground around 1200 A.D. has been found on land near the current-day intersection of Hillsboro Pike and Old Hickory Boulevard. After the Mississippian settlement declined, Creek and Cherokee tribes hunted in this area until the late 1700’s when European hunters and Early American settlers began moving into the area. Eventually the trail earned the name Hillsboro Road since it was the main road from Nashville to Hillsboro, also known as Leiper’s Fork. 
1783 – 1848 – McCutcheon, Edmiston, and Scruggs Families
In 1783, Samuel McCutchen received a grant for 640 acres along the western edge of the trace on both sides of the Little Harpeth River. As his holdings grew, he and his family were instrumental in the development of Hillsboro Road and the community in that corner of Brentwood which was then known as the “Beechville” community. In 1811 McCutcheon donated land for the Harpeth Presbyterian Church which still stands today just north of where the Little Harpeth River flows underneath Hillsboro Pike.
[image: A sign with text on it][footnoteRef:22] [22:  HMdb.org] 

In 1784, Thomas Hardeman received a grant for 640 acres along the Little Harpeth River on the eastern edge of the trace. Hardeman sold his land in 1800 and after two changes of ownership, the land on the eastern side of Hillsboro Pike was in the hands of William Edmiston. In 1830, Edmiston built the brick farmhouse which still stands today at 1929 Old Hickory Boulevard. Bricks made on the Edmiston property by enslaved individuals were used to build the Harpeth Presbyterian Church mentioned above.
As early as 1830, William Scruggs owned land at the current day junction of Hillsboro Pike and Old Hickory Boulevard. In 1830 he built the house at 3088 Hillsboro Road which still stands today. The house lies in Davidson County and the land lies in Williamson County. 
Since these three families owned the land along the road, they were expected to contribute to its upkeep. 
According to the Williamson County Minutes Book, in 1805, the Williamson County Court directed Samuel McCutcheon and other area landowners to extend a section of the Hillsboro Road to Franklin. According to the Williamson County Highways and Roads Book (1816-1826), in 1817, Robert McCutcheon, oldest son of the now deceased Samuel McCutcheon, was charged with serving as road overseer after William Edmiston had completed his term as road overseer. The McCutcheons, Edmistons and now the Scruggs had done their part in managing the road in this early section of Brentwood:
“In 1837 the Williamson County Court (legislative body) had instructed William Scruggs to have a road run between the houses of Mrs. E. Hodge and Margaret McCutchen.”  Lee, Sara. R. Beechville – Then, Now and In Between, p. 48, pub. 2006
When the county road formally became a turnpike, it was natural that all three families would be represented in its management due to their long history and experience with the maintenance of the road. 
1848 – 1901 – The Nashville and Hillsborough Turnpike Company
On February 3, 1848, the Nashville and Hillsborough Turnpike Company was established by the Tennessee General Assembly for the purpose of overseeing twenty-eight miles of road. The road led from Nashville at the intersection of Tenth Avenue and Broad (where Union Station Hotel is located today) and reached three miles beyond Hillsboro to the bridge over the Duck River. The president of the company was William Edmiston, the treasurer of the company was James McCutcheon (second son of Samuel McCutcheon) and one of the commissioners appointed for laying out the road was William Scruggs. In his 1859 will filed in Williamson County, William Scruggs left his interest in the Nashville and Hillsborough Turnpike Company to his son Edward Scruggs. When you consider that the turnpike covered twenty-eight miles from Nashville to Leiper’s Fork, it is impressive to know that three early Brentwood/Beechville community residents were leaders of this endeavor. 
“The original Act of the General Assembly stated that the Turnpike Company should have a capital of one hundred thousand dollars with which to make a good, macadamized road. This method of building a stone base topped with packed layers of increasingly small gravel would keep travelers out of the mud, and bridges would let them ride easily across the rivers.  In exchange for these amenities, the Company could establish no more than five toll- gates and no gate should be less than five miles from another.”   Lee, Sara. R. Beechville – Then, Now and In Between, p. 60, pub. 2006
The Nashville and Hillsborough Turnpike Company managed the toll road until it was sold in 1883 and was renamed the Nashville and Duck River Ridge Turnpike Company. 
“In 1901, all turnpikes coming from Nashville were bought by the state for a total of $227,000.  The owners of Hillsboro Pike received $10,000.  As of 1902, the road was owned by the public.” Lee, Sara. R. Beechville – Then, Now and In Between, p. 61, pub. 2006
Currently Hillsboro Pike is also known as part of U.S. Route 431 which travels from Owensboro, Kentucky to Dothan, Alabama as well as part of Tennessee State Route 106 from Nashville to Lewisburg.
Toll House #1 on Hillsboro Pike - Nashville
Information about Toll House #1 is included only because it helps us imagine what Toll House #2 may have been like seven miles south of there. There is a historic marker near 2206 Hillsboro Pike in Nashville near the location of Toll House #1. 
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[bookmark: _Hlk171425579]“Out Twenty-first, past the local landmark Brown’s Diner, once stood a toll-gate, and wagons laden with cotton stopped there and paid a fare for the use of the road.” Homeplace, A History of the Hillsboro-West End Neighborhood, p.1, Pub. 1992 by the Hillsboro-West End Neighborhood Association.
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[bookmark: _Hlk175666790]Photo and Excerpt from Homeplace, A History of the Hillsboro-West End Neighborhood, p 43, Pub. 1992 by the Hillsboro-West End Neighborhood Association.[footnoteRef:24] [24:  Homeplace, A History of the Hillsboro-West End Neighborhood] 


Toll House #2 on Hillsboro Pike – Brentwood/Beechville
The location of the toll house and turnpike in the area seems to have moved from time to time to various buildings and establishments between 1848 and 1901. There is an 1878 map of Williamson County published by D. G. Beers & Company which marks the location of the toll house as on the western side of Hillsboro Pike just south of the Little Harpeth River. 
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On the map there is also noted a Post Office (“P. O.”) and Blacksmith Shop (“B. S. Sh.”) which is on the eastern side of Hillsboro Pike just north of Beech Creek. 
“The blacksmith shop is said to have had the post office cubbies on one wall. If so, we can locate it on the 1878 map as northeast and close to the junction of Hillsboro and Beech Creek roads. It also had the pole for the toll road for a time.” Lee, Sara. R. Beechville – Then, Now and In Between, p. 112, pub. 2006
A toll house was located at New Hope Schoolhouse and referred to as the second toll gate on Hillsboro Pike in a Nashville Banner article dated July 25, 1896.  See section of page 84,  of this  article inserted below.
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In another Nashville Banner article dated May 11, 1906, the New Hope Schoolhouse was located “eleven miles on Hillsboro Pike”. This was a common way to describe the location around the intersection of Hillsboro Pike and Old Hickory Boulevard and further confirms the general location of the toll house back in 1896.
[bookmark: _Hlk171346123]“The area near the Little Harpeth River was the site of one toll gate for many years although the precise site may have changed from store to store as could be arranged with the storekeepers.  Gates might be out of the immediate area.  Local historians say that at various times one gate was at Yeargan’s Store (around the corner on what is now Old Hillsboro Road), one at the store near Beech Creek (Tucker’s Store in 1930), and one on the hill south of Otter Creek Road.”  Lee, Sara. R. Beechville – Then, Now and In Between, p. 60, pub. 2006
	“For example, one acre of land owned by M.T. Byrn on the east side of the pike was known as “Toll gate side No. 2, on the Nashville and Hillsborough Turnpike”. Lee, Sara. R. Beechville – Then, Now and In Between, p. 61, pub. 2006


Below is a photo of the old tollhouse when it was located near Otter Creek Road just north of the Williamson County line.  We don’t have any photos of the tollhouses when they were in the Brentwood city limits. But this photo, provided by Rick Warwick, gives an idea of what they and Hillsboro Pike was like in 1923.  This is the view looking north.
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Hillsboro Pike During the Civil War
The war caused much damage to the Hillsboro Pike, especially during two events, Confederate General Forrest’s raid of Brentwood and retreating forces after the Battle of Nashville. 
“In March 1863, Nathan Bedford Forrest led his raiders south along the Beechville section of the turnpike to return to Spring Hill after the successful raid at Brentwood.  Among the captured supplies were new issues of rifles and fresh ammunition, which made the wagons especially heavy even though these supplies were most welcome.  Forrest had also taken prisoner seven hundred fifty men and thirty-five officers whom he was marching back along with his cavalry raiders.  Forrest’s passage was at least orderly.  The retreat from the Battle of Nashville, in December 1864, was a terrible blow to the already disintegrating road.  Galloping horses, hundreds of men fleeing without order, wagons and some artillery pieces crowded the road in chaotic fashion for hours on end through a rainy night.  However uneven and rut marked the road may have been beforehand, it was much worse mud and gravel mess afterward.”  Lee, Sara. R. Beechville – Then, Now and In Between, p. 61, pub. 2006
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Excerpt from the Fayetteville Observer, April 2, 1863, describing the raid of General Forrest and the items brought down the Hillsboro Pike[footnoteRef:28] [28:  Fayetteville Observer, April 2, 1863] 


[image: A close up of a text

Description automatically generated]
Excerpt from the Nashville Daily Union, December 17, 1864, describing the retreat from Nashville down Hillsboro Pike[footnoteRef:29] [29:  Nashville Daily Union, December 17, 1864] 


2.6 Liberty Road. Its evolution and contiguity
In the early days settlers needed wagon paths, roads and eventually, turnpikes.  Some roads started with one name and, over time, were renamed or had multiple names.  Some went through an evolution as one road subsumed another.  As the authors were doing research, we were curious about the Liberty Meeting Road, the Liberty Road, the Liberty Pike, the Harvey Pike and the Franklin and Nolensville Turnpike.  Were they all the same or somehow connected?  What follows may initially appear as an attempt to confuse the reader.  However, reading through may provide some insight into what was going on throughout the 19th century and beginning of the 20th century as our roads and pikes were built.
The following account was contributed by Rick Warwick, the Williamson County Historian. It’s intriguing information that warranted further research. We hope that readers might add to our knowledge. We are not sure if it eventually became a toll road, ergo, turnpike. Nevertheless, we are pleased to share the following.
“The Liberty Road went to Liberty Methodist Church on Concord Road, through what is today Cool Springs, and the Franklin and Nolensville started on the Liberty (road) Pike but went further east to Nolensville. In the October Term 1860 Chancery Court (page 183) you will find James Park vs. The Franklin Mayor and Alderman case. “In October 1859, Franklin Mayor and Alderman passed a resolution to subscribe to build one- and one-half miles of turnpike on each of the following named roads: The Murfreesboro Road, The Liberty Road, and the Smith’s Spring Road to be built in three years.” On 29th November 1859, the city entered into an agreement with Liberty Turnpike directors- Daniel B. Cliffe, Robert B. Carothers, Thomas Buchanan, Lewis Cook, Robert Buchanan, W.H.S. Hill, John W. Harvey, Henry J. Walker, John Crockett, Alpheus Truett, and John H. Poynor to take stock in the company in return for building the 1 ½ mile road. James Park & others, city citizens, question the legality. They question the need since Franklin already has five turnpikes i.e., Franklin & Nashville, Franklin & Lewisburg, Franklin & Columbia, Carter’s Creek, Leiper’s Fork turnpikes, and the railroad. C.F. Wall made a motion-Aldermen Wall, Wells, Cliffe, Morton, and Hays voted yes. Dr. D.B. Cliffe was called into question because of a conflict of interest. Mayor C.F. Wall was also questioned because he owns land on the Smith’s Spring Turnpike. The chancellor issued an injunction on March 20, 1860, to stop Franklin from building for the purpose of building the roads. 
A state law was enacted allowing Franklin to own stock in turnpike companies, no more than 10%, with the approval of a majority of voters. The Liberty “Pike” went to the Boling Springs Academy on Harpeth Turnpike (aka Wilson Pike) and extended on to the north of Nolensville in the direction of the Liberty Meeting House. The Franklin and Nolensville Turnpike seems to have been organized July 25, 1905, with J.T. Helm, H.G. Roberts, J.H. Parks, G.M. King, J.G. Vaden, James Hodge, F. Barnett, W.A. Jordon and N.W. Warren with J.A. Pierce, president.”
Rick offered one more topic as he provided a 1935 map of the Tennessee Electric Power Company’s service area of Brentwood.  it shows the road leading to Brentwood School at Johnson Chapel Methodist Church as the Vaughn Pike.  This is Maryland Way, today.
2.6.1 Further Research.  Continuing to unravel the historic trail of events, the authors obtained further information as follows.
In 1880, segments of the old Liberty Meeting House road became part of the Franklin and Nolensville Turnpike.  Although a part of the Franklin and Nolensville Turnpike it was often known as Liberty Pike or Harvey Pike. None of this turnpike roadway is located in Brentwood.  The roads in Brentwood that had been known as Liberty Meeting House road or, simply, Liberty Road started taking on other names such as Cox Road (Now Moore’s Lane) by the late 1800s. The Franklin and Nolensville Turnpike started at Franklin Pike near the Alpheus Truett property (see maps below), probably using the old Liberty Road until it connected with an old wagon road that went to the Harpeth Turnpike near Joseph Wilson’s property. The Pike did not continue to follow the northeasterly direction of the original Liberty Meeting House Road towards Brentwood that passed in front of Boiling Spring Academy. What appears to be the roadway they followed can be seen on the 1878 Beers map, below, as dashed lines.  This road is listed on maps today as Liberty Pike from Franklin Road to Wilson Pike. In 1892 property was purchased for a toll-gate.  The charter specified that two miles of roadway had to be completed before erecting a toll-gate. It is not known if there were any other toll-gates before this. In 1919 the road was given to the County and the one toll-gate property was sold to James Bethurum. Both maps below are from the Tennessee State Library and Archives, digital library 


1878 Beers map
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1907 Franklin Topographic map
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Section 3. Topics of Interest
3.1 Turnpikes and the Battle of Nashville 
The civil war wreaked havoc on the turnpikes as both Federal and Confederate forces moved between South Tennessee and Nashville.  It took time, funding and commitment to repair and restore their condition after the war.  As we motor back and forth on these roads it is hard to comprehend the horrific fighting and casualties that resulted.  The following provides glimpses of the action on three Brentwood turnpikes as General Hood started to move South from the Battle of Nashville.
On the 15 of December 1864, the Battle of Nashville was underway with fierce fighting. The final action occurred around Granny White Pike. (Warfare History Network, John Wallker, April 2007). “Hood’s right rested on a deep railroad cut between the Nolensville and Murfreesboro Turnpikes. Raines Hill, astride the former, was an imposing terrain feature held by veterans of Maj. Gen. Benjamin Cheatham’s corps. A concealed lunette just to the east, across the tracks of the Nashville and Chattanooga Railroad, was occupied by 500 survivors of the late Brig. Gen. Hiram Granbury’s Texas Brigade. From Nolensville Pike, Hood’s line ran west across Franklin Pike, past Granny White Pike, to where Redoubt 1, the true salient of Hood’s left, lay just east of Hillsboro Pike. From there the line “refused” at a right angle to Redoubt 2, also on the east side of the pike. The Confederate line stretched diagonally across the pike to Redoubts 3, 4, and 5. A division of Lt. Gen. A.P. Stewart’s corps was set behind a stone wall that ran parallel to Hillsboro Pike, constituting the extreme left flank of the Confederate works.”
As the Battle progressed, near the end, Cheatham’s soldiers, battered by Union artillery, now faced corps-sized attacks on their front and flank. They could also see Wilson’s dismounted cavalrymen rushing over the hills to their rear. With his left under so much pressure, Cheatham brought up reinforcements and bent his far-left flank into the shape of a fishhook, until he had one line of infantrymen firing to the south and another line firing to the north. Only 100 yards separated the two lines. Hood pulled Coleman’s brigade off Shy’s Hill to set up a front on the extreme left, on the east side of Granny White Pike, to hold off Wilson when he was reinforced by another brigade. Bate had to further thin his lines on the hill to cover the position vacated by Coleman’s troops.
After a fatal breach occurred. Union infantry had massed in strength, almost undetected, on the steep slope to the front of Shy’s Hill, and as they came up and over the hill, they encountered the 20th Tennessee under Colonel William Shy. As other units began fading away, Shy and his men stood firm, and the fighting escalated into savage hand-to-hand combat. Shy’s men continued firing until they ran out of ammunition and were surrounded. Shy was shot in the head and killed, and almost half his unit was killed or wounded. The 37th Georgia, on Bate’s left, also fought savagely until it was overrun and virtually wiped out.
As Hood started retreating South, Union Calvary tried to cut across from Granny White Pike by a country road (now Maryland Way). Hood dispatched General James Chalmers to stop this attempt to cut off Hoods retreat. Barrels and other debris were strewn across the road to slow down the Union attack. This became known as the Battle of the Barrels or Barricade.
The next morning, devastated by his defeat, General Hood and his remaining forces retreated South on Franklin Pike, passing through Brentwood and Franklin. 
                     [image: Battle of Nashville on Granny White Pike.pdf - Personal - Microsoft​ Edge][footnoteRef:30] [30:  T. Vance Little’s “Map notes,” Williamson County Archives.
] 

3.2 Private Acts pertinent to planning, construction and operation of Williamson County Turnpikes.  Excerpted from University of Tennessee County Technical Assistance Service (CTAS), Highways and Roads - Historical Notes April 11, 2024, www.ctas.tennessee.edu

The following is a listing of acts which once had some effect upon the county road system in Williamson County, but which are no longer operative. Also referenced below are acts which repeal prior law without providing new substantive provisions.
 1. Acts of 1807, Chapter 50, was the authority for William McKey, of Williamson County, to turn the public road, generally called the Tower Road leading from Franklin to Nashville in a manner so as to cross the Harpeth River with the upper road and pursue that route as was allowed by the Jury appointed by the County Court of Williamson County until it intersects the lower road. McKey must open and clear the road at his own expense, but the road shall be considered as a public road in Williamson County.
 2. Acts of 1821, Chapter 6, required the Courts Of Pleas and Quarter Sessions of every county to index and classify the roads in the county into one of three distinct classes, ranging from the stage road down to one wide enough for a horse and rider. Provision was made for mile marking, clearing, and bridging. Provision was made for mile marking, clearing and bridging.
 3. Acts of 1825, Chapter 200, named Randal McGavock, Joseph Woods, Matthew Bowen, William  Lewis, Robert Weakley, Thomas Bradley, Christopher E. McEwen, John McAlister, James Swanson,  John Watson, John C. Wormley, James P. Peters, James Black, Edward B. Littlefield, Matthew  Rhea, and William J. Frierson, as commissioners to open books and sell stock up to $100,000 to  build a turnpike road from Nashville to Columbia by way of Franklin, which would be incorporated  as the Nashville Turnpike Company. The Commissioners would lay out the route and the elected President and Directors would provide for its construction.
 4. Acts of 1826, Chapter 192, Chapter 168, amended Acts of 1825, Chapter 200, to direct the commissioners previously authorized to lay out the road from Nashville to Columbia by way of Franklin to mark out the road from Nashville to Franklin after the first meeting of the stockholders, and, when $15,000 has been raised from the stock sales, that portion of the road may be started. The commissioners could still solicit funds for the remainder of the road of Columbia.
 5. Acts of 1829, Chapter 205, appointed Randal McGavock, John Watson, James Swanson, Lawrence Bryan, Joseph Wood, Robert B. Currey, Henry R. W. Hill, Robert Weakley, William Hadley, Christopher E. McEwen, John C. McLemore, and Phillip Pipkin, as commissioners, to open books and sell stock up to $75,000 to build a turnpike between Nashville and Franklin. Shares were set at $25 each, and when as much as $5,000 was subscribed, the stockholders would hold a meeting at Franklin, at which time a corporation could be formed to be known as the Franklin Turnpike Company. Construction and operation restrictions and requirements were specified in the remaining sections of this Act.
 6. Acts of 1829, Chapter 269, stated that, whenever any person, firm, or corporation, organized for  opening a turnpike in the counties of Williamson, Davidson, and Rutherford, should make known  to the Court of Pleas and Quarter Sessions in the counties through which the road would pass,  that they would not proceed to open the said road on terms agreeable to their charter, it would be  lawful for the said Court to grant upon the terms of the original charter all or any part of said road  not completed to any person, or persons, applying therefor, but that portion of road shall not be  less than five miles.
 7. Acts of 1829, Chapter 287, incorporated Spencer Buford, John Swainey, Gabriel Buford, and
 Lawrence Bryan, as the West Harpeth Turnpike Company granting to them all the rights and
 privileges incidental to turnpike companies. The Company may mark, clear out and turnpike the
 main road leading from Franklin in Williamson County to Columbia in Maury County, starting at
 Franklin and ending at the West Harpeth River in the same way and manner as the turnpike from Nashville to Franklin.

 8. Acts of 1831, Chapter 68, stated that all persons who shall become stockholders were hereby incorporated as the Franklin and Columbia Turnpike Company and as such would enjoy all the powers and privileges and would assume all the obligations of Acts of 1829, Chapter 205, Page 159, regarding g this particular highway. The capital stock was limited in the beginning to 4,000 shares at $25 each.

 9. Acts of 1832, Chapter 147, amended Acts of 1831, Chapter 68, to name Christopher E. McEwen, Gilbert Marshall, Joseph Crockett, John S. Russwurm, William White, and John Watson of Page 3 of 8 CTAS - Highways and Roads - Historical Notes
Williamson County; James Patterson and Spencer Clack of Giles County; and, Col. William Pillow,  Allen Ramsey, Thomas Mahon, John Miller, David Craig, and Abram Looney, of Maury County, as  commissioners charged with the obligation to lay out and designate the route along which the  road, previously authorized to be built, will run, provided the route shall be the shortest and best  one from Franklin to Columbia, passing through the town of Spring Hill in Maury County.
 
10. Acts of 1833, Chapter 87, required that the Commissioners who were to extend and locate the road from Franklin in Williamson County to Columbia in Maury County to make a point in the said road at the place in Williamson County called Cotton Port. This Act amended Acts of 1831, Chapter 68.
 
11. Acts of 1833, Chapter 255, extended the time for commencing the work on the road known as the Franklin and Columbia Turnpike until November 30, 1835, and the time for completion of the said road was set for November 30, 1840. H. L. Douglas, James Woods, Anthony Johnson, Samuel Seay, and William Nichol were named as commissioners to open books and receive stock subscriptions for the road in Nashville.

 12. Acts of 1835-36, Chapter 14, incorporated all subscribers to the stock of the Franklin and
 Columbia Turnpike Company and granted to them the powers, privileges, and liabilities of the
 Franklin Turnpike Company as set forth in Acts of 1829, Chapter 205 and Acts of 1831, Chapter 68. The commissioners who would run and mark the route of the road were William P. Campbell, Thomas Hardeman, and William Flemming, of Williamson County, and John Watson, William McKissack, Garrett S. Voorhies, John Smiser, Thomas Mahon, all of Maury County.

 13. Acts of 1837-38, Chapter 162, increased the capital stock of the Franklin and Columbia Turnpike Company to any amount less than $150,000 the same to be determined by the officials of the company.

 14. Acts of 1839-40, Chapter 146, provided that so much of the Franklin and Columbia Turnpike Road as had been laid out and constructed upon the way selected by the officials of the said road between Franklin in Williamson County and the bridge over Rutherford's Creek in Maury County would be as legal and lawful as if constructed on the route first marked. The Company would also be entitled to all rights and benefits as if the turnpike had been constructed upon the ground originally marked.
 
15. Acts of 1869-70, Chapter 52, incorporated the Nolensville and Wilkerson's Crossroads Turnpike Company to sell stock up to $35,000 to build a turnpike road from Nolensville in Williamson County to Wilkerson's Crossroads in Rutherford County. When $5,000 in stock had been sold a meeting was to take place in Kedron Church in Rutherford County. This company would possess the same rights as the Franklin Turnpike Company created by Acts of 1829, Chapter 205.

 16. Acts of 1869-70, Chapter 111, commissioned John Lytle, W. G. Garrett, J. Todd, H. C. Bartley, Joseph King, John King, James King, Jr., and Joseph Holloway to sell stock in a 99-year corporation with an authorized initial capital stock of $100,000, to build a turnpike road from Murfreesboro in Rutherford County to Triune in Williamson County. The subscribers would be incorporated as the Murfreesboro and Triune Turnpike Company.

 17. Acts of 1901, Chapter 136, was a general road law applicable to every county in Tennessee under 70,000 in population according to the 1900 Federal Census. The Quarterly County Court of each County would elect one Road Commissioner to serve a two-year term from each Road District in the County. Road Districts were made co-extensive with the Civil Districts. The Road
Commissioner must be bonded and sworn, and would have general supervision over all the roads, bridges, hands, tools, and materials assigned to his District for which he would be compensated at the rate of $1 per day but not to exceed ten days in one year. The County Court would set the number of days between five and eight which road hands would be compelled to work each year.  The County Court would also levy a special road tax of two cents per $100 property valuation for every day the road hands had to work on the roads. The District Commissioners must appoint an overseer in their areas who would be the immediate supervisors over designated sections of road, work the same number of compulsory days as everyone else did, and then be paid up to $6 per year for their extra labor. All males outside of cities between the ages of 21 and 45 were subject to compulsory labor on the road system. District Road Commissioners would hear and dispose of petitions to open, close, or change roads, would classify and index the roads in their districts into the four classes according to width. This act was amended by Acts of 1903, Chapter 533, and both Acts were involved in the case of Carroll v. Griffith, 117 Tenn. 500, 97 SW 66 (1906). 

18. Acts of 1905, Chapter 478, amended Acts of 1901, Chapter 136, above, in several minor particulars but substantially changed the provisions in regard to the handling of petitions to open, close, and change roads especially where the exercise of the power of eminent domain was to be a part of the process.

 19. Private Acts of 1905, Chapter 540, stated that all turnpike companies in Williamson County which  have only one tollgate located on their respective roads would be permitted to remove and relocate the toll-gate to any point on their roads no nearer to an incorporated city, or town, than  was allowed by their Charters, but they could not place them between a city and a public road, nor could they be removed any distance greater than 300 feet from their present location.
 20. Private Acts of 1907, Chapter 517, was the authority for the County Court of Williamson County to levy and collect a general road tax which could not exceed 20 cents per $100 property valuation to be collected as any other taxes were. The tax could not be levied except by a two-thirds vote of the Quarterly Court and the proceeds must be placed in a "Special Road Improvement Fund" and spent only for those purposes, and then only when two-thirds of the Court approve. The Court was directed to appoint by a two-thirds vote a Commissioner, or Commissioners, to prescribe their duties of supervision and inspection of the road program, and to require them to render reports at stated intervals on the conditions of the road system. No funds could be appropriated for road improvements until the Commissioners had reported the necessity and the court had approved the same. Commissioners would be paid as the Court directed and the Court could by two-thirds vote, terminate the program and transfer the balance of any money into the general fund.
 21. Private Acts of 1909, Chapter 123, amended Private Acts of 1907, Chapter 517, by inserting a provision in Section 3 which required the funds in the road improvement account to be apportioned as nearly as possible in the same ratio to the area from which they were collected.
 Sections 4 and 5 were changed to make the Commissioners serve two-year terms and to classify them as special road commissioners.
 22. Private Acts of 1909, Chapter 252, was the authority for the Quarterly Court of Williamson County to compensate the Bridge Commissioners of the County, not exceeding five in number, but the compensation shall not be more than $1.50 per day for each of the Commissioners for each day worked in this capacity. The Court could appropriate and pay this money from the regular and general funds of the County.
 23. Private Acts of 1909, Chapter 383, declared that, where steam railroads have been, or may be, built on, across, or alongside, turnpike roads in Williamson County, the turnpike companies could remove and rebuild their roads on different lines so as to avoid dangerous proximity to the railroads, and for that purpose they might resort to the power of eminent domain as provided by law.
 24. Private Acts of 1911, Chapter 232, provided that whenever a turnpike company operating in Williamson County sold a part of its road to the county, the company could establish new and additional tollgates on the part of their road in adjacent counties, but all tollgates shall be at least four miles apart. If the tollgates had not been up for 15 years, or over, and were at least between four and five miles apart, they could remain in operation. This Act was repealed by Private Acts of 917, Chapter 129.
 25. Private Acts of 1911, Chapter 253, amended Private Acts of 1907, Chapter 517, by inserting the proper population figures from the 1910 Census to keep the Act in force in Williamson County.
 26. Private Acts of 1911, Chapter 261, was the enabling legislation for the Franklin and Lewisburg Turnpike Company, a Tennessee Corporation, to remove and relocate its second and third tollgate on its turnpike south of Franklin at a point not more than 1¼ miles south of their present location, but no closer than 5 miles to any of its other tollgates. The Company was granted the same rights and privileges at the new locations as they possessed at the old ones.
 27. Private Acts of 1913, Chapter 135, gave to any turnpike company which undertook the reconstruction and regrading of as much as a mile of its roadbed the right to collect toll during the reconstruction period for one year from the commencement of the grading only. The managers of the company were required to give notice to the Pike Commissioners and to give a report every six months showing that all the money received from the tolls during the reconstruction period had been spent on the road. This Act was repealed by Private Acts of 1917, Chapter 89.
 28. Private Acts of 1913 (Ex. Sess.), Chapter 49, amended Acts of 1901, Chapter 136, Section 5, by increasing the commutation fee to be paid by the road hands in Williamson County from 75 cents per day to $1 per day, which money would be used to employ labor upon the road section to which the commuting road hand was assigned. The Road Overseer was obligated to report to the County Trustee on commutation money received and spent and to turn over to him any remaining.
29. Private Acts of 1915, Chapter 169, provided that any turnpike company which had abandoned, or would thereafter abandon, a part of its road, could re-establish and relocate its tollgates on the part of its road which remained but did not permit the erection of any additional toll-gates and the  relocation of the tollgates could not be nearer to each other than was permissible under the  Charter of the Company.
 30. Private Acts of 1919, Chapter 359, authorized the Williamson County Quarterly Court at its July meeting in 1919, and every two years thereafter in January to elect a Road Commissioner from each Road District which were the same as Civil Districts who would hold office for 2 years. The Road Commissioners would have the general supervision of all public roads, bridges, and overseers in the district, must be residents of the area and skilled in road building, must be sworn and bonded, and would be guilty of a misdemeanor if they didn't serve, when appointed, or willfully neglected their duty. The Court had the power to levy a road tax of 2 cents per $100 for each day the road hands were compelled to work, two-thirds of which could be worked out, for all of which accurate records must be kept. Overseers, appointed by the Road Commissioners for each section of road to supervise the work and the road hands, would serve without compensation. Males between the ages of 18 and 50 must work the number of days set by the Quarterly Court or pay a $2 per day commutation fee. Owners of teams and wagons had to pay $3 per day not worked. Roads had to be indexed and classified, could be opened, closed, or changed when the proper procedures were used. The authority was granted to contract portions of the work out when desirable and to designate roads as county highways. The court was empowered to levy a tax up to twenty cents per $100 valuation for maintenance. This Act was repealed by Private Acts of 1923, Chapter 396.
 31. Private Acts of 1919, Chapter 517, authorized the incorporated turnpike companies in Williamson County to change the location of their rights of way at places not exceeding one mile from the corporate limits of each town and to relocate them to provide safer and more convenient entrances into the towns. To accomplish these purposes the companies were allowed to acquire land both by purchase and condemnation proceedings.
 32. Private Acts of 1919, Chapter 654, stated that all turnpike companies in Williamson County which have only one tollgate on their roads could relocate the tollgate to any point on their roads but no nearer to an incorporated city than was permitted under their Charters, and further, not to be placed between the town and a public road nor moved more than 800 feet from its present location.
 33. Private Acts of 1920 (Ex. Sess.), Chapter 50, amended Private Acts of 1919, Chapter 359, the Williamson County Road Law, by requiring the County Court at the July term in 1922, and at the  January term thereafter to elect a Road Commissioner from each Road District which were the  same as the Civil Districts, to serve two years, to have charge and general supervision over all public roads, bridges, and overseers in the District. The Commissioners must be citizens, freeholders, skilled in the business of road building, sworn and bonded before entering office, and who would be guilty of a misdemeanor if they didn't serve when appointed or neglected their duty. The Commissioners would be paid as the Court decided but not over $50 for any one civil district. The Court would set the number of days the road hands were compelled to work between six and ten. A special road tax of one cent per $100 property valuation for each day of compulsory labor, two-thirds of which could be worked out on the roads, and all of which must be spent in the District from which it originated, but other road funds could be divided. Overseers were appointed by the Commissioners for one year, would be paid $2 a day up to $10 a year after first working the compulsory days as anyone else worked them without compensation. Males, outside of cities, between the ages of 18 and 50 must work the established number of days on the roads or pay a commutation fee which was $3 per day for the owners of wagons and teams who wished to commute. Prisoners could be worked on the roads but only as the Court and the law permitted. Commissioners could contract the work out and dispose of petitions filed to open, close, or change the road. Commissioners were to be paid the same as Justices of the Peace. The County Court could levy a special ad valorem tax of not more than twenty cents on the $100 for the establishment and maintenance of county highways.
 34. Private Acts of 1921, Chapter 695, set up a schedule of tolls which the owners of the turnpikes in Williamson County could charge for the use of their particular road. The schedule ranged from five cents for a motorcycle to $1.25 for a five-ton truck with intermediate charges and weights in between.
 35. Private Acts of 1923, Chapter 45, declared that the State Highway Commission would not have the right or power in any proceeding now pending, or which might be brought thereafter, in Williamson County, to impose on that county any expense for the purchase, or condemnation, of rights of way, or for the construction and maintenance of the roads without the consent of the said county being given through its County Court. This Act was declared unconstitutional because it suspended the operation of a general law for the benefit of one particular county in the case of Berry v. Hayes, 160 Tenn. 577, 28 S.W.2d 50 (1930).
 36. Private Acts of 1923, Chapter 310, was the authority for all turnpike companies in Williamson County to remove and to relocate any tollgate on their respective turnpikes, provided, however, that no tollgate could be relocated under this Act within two miles of the corporate limits of any town or nearer than five miles to any other tollgate.
 37. Private Acts of 1923, Chapter 396, repealed Private Acts of 1919, Chapter 359, and substituted: At the next January term of the County Court, a four-member County Highway, Bridge, and Workhouse Commission would be elected by the Court to serve two-year terms with the County Judge to be an ex-officio member and Chairman. The members must be citizens, skilled in the business of road building and maintenance, would have the charge and control of the county roads, bridges, and workhouse and be paid $100 a year and transportation. Overseers may be hired for sections of the road at $4 per day. Prisoners could be worked on the roads in conformity with the law, and a special road tax could be levied not to exceed ten cents per $100 property valuation. Provision was made for the County Court, beginning in January 1924, and every 2 years thereafter, to elect a Road Commissioner from each district, who would have supervision over public roads and bridges (except county highways and county bridges). Roads must be classified and indexed by the Commissioners and road hands assigned to them. The Court could fix the number of days of compulsory labor between four and six for road hands, and between 2 and 5 for wagons and teams. A special road tax of two cents per $100 could be levied for each day of compulsory labor. Materials must be purchased pursuant to the terms of this law on which the County Judge must report to the Court. Penalties were provided for the obstruction of roads. This Act was repealed by Private Acts of 1935, Chapter 666.
 38. Private Acts of 1927, Chapter 806, declared that in Williamson County the County Court, acting through its officers, or proper authorities, would have and could exercise the right and privilege of expending the general road funds, or any portion thereof, in any Road District, or Civil District, as might in its judgment be most needed to furnish a complete system of roads, it being the intention of this Act to allow the road authorities to spend funds in other Districts of the county than those in which the funds were collected.
 39. Private Acts of 1929, Chapter 333, Private Acts of 1919, Chapter 359, by placing a period after "subject to road labor" and by revising the commutation fee for wagons and teams to the payment of $3 per day. This Act is of questionable validity as the Legislature repealed the underlying Act in Private Acts of 1923, Chapter 396.
 40. Private Acts of 1933, Chapter 744, amended Private Acts of 1923, Chapter 396, by rewriting the first paragraph of Section 4 to provide that at the regular August election in 1934, and every two years thereafter, one Road Commissioner would be elected in each Road District, which was co-extensive with the Civil Districts of the county, who would be in general charge and supervision over all the public roads, bridges, (except county highways and county bridges) and overseers in that District. The Commissioners were required to be citizens, freeholders, skilled in the arts of road building, and maintenance, and elected by the people of their District. This Act was repealed by Private Acts of 1935, Chapter 666.
 41. Private Acts of 1935, Chapter 666, repealed Private Acts of 1923, Chapter 396, and Private Acts of 1933, Chapter 744, and then enacted a new Road Law for Williamson County which established a County Highway Department and classified the roads of the County, setting up minimum widths for the standards of classification. A general road tax between 8 and 15 cents per $100 must be levied to support the road system. The Workhouse would be under the control and supervision of the Board of Highway Commissioners who would make the prisoners available to work on the roads under the regulations and law pertinent to them. The county was to be divided into three zones from each of which one member of the Board would be elected for a 2-year term at the August election, but no State, County, or City employee was eligible to serve. This Act named Glenn Overby, Oscar Warren, and Will C. Lanier, as the first Board, who were given the authority to employ a County Road Superintendent to run the Department at a salary not to exceed $1800 annually. The Commissioners would be paid $500 annually at the rate of $41.40 per month. Procedures to remove Commissioners and to fill vacancies were included in the Act. The powers and authority of the Commissioners were generally specified including the authority to disburse funds collected by taxation for road purposes. All males between 21 and 45, living outside of cities, were subject to working four days, each of 10 hours duration, or pay a $3 commutation fee. All petitions to open, close, change or accept, roads were to be heard and investigated by the Commission. The Commission would report its findings to the quarterly county court for decision.
 42. Private Acts of 1935 (Ex. Sess.), Chapter 113, amended Private Acts of 1935, Chapter 666, by adding to Section 19 giving the authority to the Board of Highway Commissioners to contract with the State Department of Highways for the expenditure by the State of the funds received by the county for use on the highways and bridges of the county. Such contract was authorized to secure federal aid through the Works Progress Administration. The terms of any contract were placed within the discretion of the Board. This Act was repealed by Private Acts of 1937, Chapter 650.
 43. Private Acts of 1970, Chapter 209, was to amend Private Acts of 1937, Chapter 373, as amended to increase the maximum rate of tax for the general road tax from 50 cents to $1 per $100 property valuation. This Act was not ratified and never became effective.
 Source URL: https://www.ctas.tennessee.edu/private-acts/highways-and-roads-historical-notes-20
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Turmoil about Toll Houses
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The Roads before 1800, Buffalo Runs
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                 Early Turnpikes in the Southeast and the Trail of Tears
[image: A historic image of a person standing in front of a small house next to a dirt road.]Toll-gates, such as the one shown here, were located at various points on turnpikes in order to      collect tolls.[footnoteRef:33] [33:  MTSU Center for Historic Preservation] 

By the time of the Trail of Tears, road construction in the Southeast evolved with the introduction of turnpikes. These toll roads, served as the highways of the era. They helped facilitate movement and trade between major towns and cities and were utilized by Cherokee detachments on the Trail of Tears. The number and location of tollgates were unique to each turnpike; however, tollgates could typically not be erected within two miles of the boundary of a town or less than 4–5 miles apart. Tolls also varied from turnpike to turnpike. For example, the Memphis, Somerville, and Bolivar Turnpike, incorporated in January 1838, planned to have 10 tollgates and charge the following fares:
	Item
	Cost

	20 head of sheep or hogs
	$.30

	20 head of horned or neat cattle
	$.50

	Horse or mule not in a drove
	$.06 ¼ , if in a drove $.03

	Pleasure carriage
	$.18 ¾

	Loaded wagon
	$.18 ¾

	Empty wagon
	$.12 ½

	Cart
	$.12 ½

	Foot passenger
	$.06 ¼



We paid Forty dollars at the Walerns [sic] Ridge gate, and the man agreed to let the other Detachments pass at half price viz 37 ½ for four wheeled Carriages & 6 ¼ for a horse. On the Cumberland Mountain they fleeced us: 75 Cents a wagon & 12 ½ Cents a horse without the least abatement of thanks. We will avoid several gates on the road to Nashville.”
- Evan Jones, traveling with the Situwakee detachment, to Principal Chief John Ross, October 27, 1838

[bookmark: _Hlk173991724]Section of the Memphis to Little Rock Road at Village Creek State Park, Arkansas.
Image: MTSU Center for Historic Preservation.
During the Trail of Tears, there were reports that some tollgate operators in Tennessee charged exorbitant amounts to the detachments, thus leading four detachments to take alternate routes to Nashville to avoid tolls. Despite the inconvenience of tolls, turnpikes were among the best roads in an area. They were also built with specific construction requirements to ensure their designation as first-class roads, often requiring drainage ditches and culverts, as well as specifying surface materials.
[image: A person walks through a worn path in the forest.]Segment of the Old Jefferson Road in the East Fork Recreation Area, used by four detachments to avoid tolls on the way to Nashville.[footnoteRef:34] [34:  MTSU Center for Historic Preservation] 


Research indicates that most of the roads used for removal likely had dirt or gravel surfaces, while some may have been macadamized, a process named for Scottish engineer John Loudon McAdam in which single-sized crushed stone layers are compacted, with a slope from the center to the drainage ditches on the sides, to create a durable road surface. Regardless, conditions varied greatly, and there were numerous reports that detachments, at one time or another, faced poor road conditions along their journeys. Evan Jones, for example, reported to Principal Chief John Ross on October 27, 1838, at McMinnville, Tennessee, that the detachment was “somewhat fatigued with passing so rapidly over the bad roads.” On the same day, U.S. Army Lt. Edward Deas reported the following near Winchester, Tennessee: “[O]ur progress has been necessarily slow, in consequence of the obstructions in the roads over which we have passed.” A week later, on November 3, 1838, Deas continued to complain about the condition of the roads, reporting, “[W]e have pursued the direct road thro’ Fayetville [sic] and Pulaski leading to Memphis part of which we found very rough.” Two days later, Butrick reported in his journal that while passing a particularly “narrow & dangerous part of the road” in the Walden’s Ridge area, a wagon overturned, causing fatal injuries to a member of the detachment. As the journey progressed through the winter months, rain, ice, and snow caused the roads to deteriorate further.
                     [image: A worn path through a winter forest.]
               Portion of the Northern Route of the Trail of Tears in Mantle Rock, Kentucky.[footnoteRef:35] [35:  MTSU Center for Historic Preservation] 


In the early 19th century, regular maintenance of public roads was a necessity and was typically performed through community efforts and under the direction of an appointed overseer. Just as the quality and condition of roads varied from state to state and from road to road, the process of maintaining the roads varied, as well. A number of states made it a general requirement for all able-bodied men of a certain age, both white, black, free, and enslaved, to work on the road, with few exceptions. The number of days required to work on the roads varied, and some states instituted fines for those individuals who failed to carry out their duties. Despite all the rules in place to maintain roads, early 19th century overland travel was often slow-going and hazardous during inclement weather and in rough terrain.
[bookmark: _Hlk174175614]Franklin Turnpike Toll House Historical Documents and Deeds of Transfer
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Nashville Banner  Nashville, Tennessee · Saturday, July 06, 1929, p 3
Suit over the property 
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        The Tennessean, Nashville, Tennessee · Tuesday, June 11, 1929, p. 13
                                     Guthrie sold BBQ Probably through the Tavern
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To the Stockholders of the Owen
and Winstead Turnpike Co.
OU are hereby notified that a call of Two Dol-
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Stockholders Meeting Notice for the Owen-Winstead Turnpike (aka Edmondson Pike)
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Figure No. 49: The tollgate house, built in the late 19th century, as it appears today.

Outside the firehall stands a historical marker, commemorating the city’s last tollgate that once stood
nextto the pike. The former tollhouse was acquired by the man who had collected the fees, Confederate veteran
Sterling B. Pyron. His grandaughter, Mrs. John W. Beard, had it moved to a lot behind the firehall, where it can
be seen today.
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There was no Old Hickory Boulevard then. Beyond the second
toll gate we crossed Little Harpeth at Stockert’s Presbyterian
Church, rode on through Beechville, and we would finally turn
right through the Moran Valley fields and make camp below the
bridge between the Moran and Ring homes. There we camped and
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The Good Government Campaign Commit-
tee has arranged for speaking up to election
day as follows:

Monday, the 27th, South Market mm
near Mallory, and Whart avenue and Fill-
more street.

Tuesday, the 28th, Goodlettsville at 1 p.
m.; corner of Summer and Madison streets;
Fifth and Woodland streets at night.

~ Wednesday, the 20th, Belmont and Broad;
Cockrill Springs and Spruce and Division
streets.

Tuepday, the 80th, Eleventh Distriet at
New Hope Bohool-house; Hillsboro Pike;
secaond toll gate, at 1 o'¢lock p. m.; Richland
Park, West Nashville and Tenth and Fath-
erland streets at 8 p. m.

Friday, the 81st, at Line and Park streets:
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Hillsboro Pike Tollgate located north of Otter Crek Rd. near PRSTIE IOz

O Ao A AN 0. 5785 i
AN INTERESTING PICTURE taken six miles out the pike, showing an old toll gate house, built fifty

i i i in those days.
vears ago, the keeper of which collected toll to ride over the rough old road as it was in
The tollg gate ceased operation some twenty years ago, when this county did away with all toll gates.
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came by 1802. Near the intersection of Beech
Creek Road and the Nashville - Hillsboro Turnpike
were various businesses - saddletree and wagon
makers, a blacksmith shop, sawmill, two stores, post
| office (1876-1903), and a toll gate. A Masonic
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north of Harpeth Presbyterian Church. Community
Schools were Oak Hill, Sunnyside and Beechville
(black). ' Doctors M.T. Byrn, W.d. Parker and
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Rml‘l galnin;;«i;_ from Sneed Road to Hillsbore
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on the south of the range of hills, to
which I have referred, and if possible
intercept the rebel retreat, or worry his
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Atather Tolb:cate Wat,

Tite long and troublesome litigation in fhich
the White’s Creek Turnpike Cotatiatiy iwas in-
volved, bas just about Seen hroight to an ‘end,
but A suit fndtitited in the Chancery Court, yes-
terday, against the Granny White Turnpike
Company, gives promise of e legal fight quite
as determined as thit first mentioned. The
cause of this suit is the location of a toll-gaté.
The Complainaats are William L. B. Law rench
Vao L. Kirkman, Dr. W, A, Gloilliam, Civsar
Spilman, B, Wahikisk, Hen'ry Gussman, A,
Schmid, Jok:a Weis and J. H. McAlister. 'The
defcndatits are the Nashville & Middle Franklin
Turnpike Company and its successors, the
Granny White Turnpike Company, composed of
Thomas Herron, Greea B, Sawyers, 0. F, Naoel,
Moses E2. Cato, W. D. Gale, Jerry Sullivan and
C. A, Litteter.

The bill states that on the 15th dag of Jan-
uary, 1850, the Nashville & Middle Frankij
Turnpike Company was chartered by ta &
the Legislature for the purpore of bullding
macadamized road from ¥ashvillé to the county
line dividing the tounties of Davidson and
Williamson.  In this ¢harter it was Specifically
stated that the first toll-gate Should not be
nearer than two miles of the ¢rporattsn hne of
Nashville. 1In 1856 the FoziSiature authorized
the Turapike Compruy to erect a toll-gate on
the lands of D. C. Walker, then aboit two tniles
from the corporate limits of shvil The
company never availed themselves of this
authorif hat, in 1#53, in _violation of the

of
a
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Transportation

garly Roads

FIRST ROAD —The “Buffalo R in Brentwood is believed
to be the first pioneer road in Williamson County.

Before 1800 there were no roads in Williamson County,

only Indian trails and buffalo Tuns which the pioneers

traveled on by way of horses or covered wagons. The
"Buffalo Run" in Brentwood is believed to be the first
pionser roac in §illiamson County.

There were three main Indian trails through the
county. One ran from 01d Smyrna Road south, crossing
¥ilson Pike and along the Little Harpeth branching out

toward Lewisburg. Another trail came through the Brent-

wood area down Granny White Pike, Holly Tree Gap and through

Franklin and toward Lewisburg. The third trail came down

the jarner Park area, along the iest Harpeth River and

toward Spring Hill.
eral Indian villages and Indian mounds were located

along these trails.
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DEED

FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the sumof Two Thousand. and no/100 ($2,000.00) Dotars,
pidsdtobepuiaby Ro B, Guthrie . sitomde |
i cash, the receipt o which is hereby acknowledged, xkdbx. o oot |

oo pr

A. 3. Sulliven and wife Mrs. Belle Sullivan,
o herehy tannte and convey unto 8add Mo E. Guthrie
the following descrbed land i Cisl Distrct No. 15

e bargained and sld

Willamson County, State of Tennesse
Being the second toll gate house and lot on the ¥ranklin Turmpike Road and

3yine,on, the weat slde of tnas rond, bouned on the morin by he Christian
nds o

Church oty on the Bast by said Turhpike Toad en the south b
Geprge W. Johnson :nd on the west by the lands of George W,

taining one mere, more or leas, and being the same lot or pa
by A. 3, Sullivan from Franklin Turnpike Company by deed of
reCord in Deed Book 55, page 188, Register's Office of ¥illiamson County,

Tann

Bosession to be given March 15, 1929. The premises are now oocupied bythe
grantor, A. J. Sullivan as a store-house and it is agrued Anat grantes on
date possession is given is to take over and yay for at cost price mush
€oo#s and merchandise an may be on the premises, Said Sullivan, howsver
agrees not to buy any further goods and merchandise between this date
and March 15,1929, save and except such as is necessary to keep his
stock up to its present size,and extent.
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Aud we  dofuthercovstasdbind  ourselves our heirs and represntativs, to wacrant aud forever defend

the title to said propery to the said R. E. Gutarte his
eir and assgns, aguiost the lawful caims of all persons.
Wit gur  hand 8 Latndayol Jamary AD9E
Witsess 5
( A 3. Sullivan,
Mrs. Belle Sulliven,
STLTEOE BN R LRGBS O T
Personally appeared e me, B. G. Courtney & Notary Public

in and for ssid County und Sist, he vithinnamed A, Jo Sullivan and wife, Mra. Belle Sulliven

. the bargainor 8, with whom 1 am personally acquaiated,
and sckowledged that the; exceuted the anexedinstuanent o the purpases thire contained.
they

™ wite

¥rs, Belle Sullivan
of the sid A, 3. Sulliven

aving appeared befor me privately and apart from her husband , the said Xre Belle Sullivan,

acknowlodged the exccution of the said instrument o have been doe by her rely, voluntarly, and nderstandingly, without compulsion or oa-

it rom e husband. and fo the purpose thecin expresse

Witnes my haad and official e, at office, this 14t day of o

January 29

Commision cxpires SEAL) . G. Oourtne, Notary Pubic
Y
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Frookiin turapike Cov Sor und in cosesieration  of the sum of Thirteen

Sumized Dollers pusd 5nd to Le pedd by s T, Sullivan as

sutliven, L7 eotiom

the s of two Tupdred nsd Snenty five Jellere

oeh Ln W, e reseipt of wisen o lereby neknowledsed the sus of Six Judred sad

five Dollive, on or Before trelve months ufter dute, tne further sum of

Two tundred Dollere 04 or efore trenty- four ontie ufter dnte, am the further sun
of Tuo Tunired Dellure on or tefare Trentyefour montr ftox dnte, for wich duferred
pigeents e srintes ns exseutid Ma Giree otes, ne in the sum of Six Tuntred wnd
Seventy - fioe Dolliza, duc sn or hefore tweive sontha fron dite uad two exch dn the

oun of Tuo Fupdred dollirs dus o or Tefoce tunty-four montia fter dute, a1l

ing even date farewitn, bad dus e Gfiresidd , with lnterest fro

te, perile

ans L, o0 withrwendorts 1ien nes

espresely retiined to sccure the peyment

theeof 611 of suid potes [ yeUle to the orler of the srantor Fereln, the

Surapive Sempeny  corooraiion,

o burseines und ssli, nnd by these pr

teanater ad sonvey unto te esids

v 3 Sullivan wod nis heire ani creisos « curtiin lot er pa

Seseribes ne faliom

Lkng Yoo ted wd ein: tn the Fiftacnth Civil District of Villlsssen
|
County , Teunsssse, “aé vebng the se'nt toll gate Kouse end lot on tre Pramkiin
Turmpixe Rovd wad 1ying on tne West $ide of ‘7t rout bousde’ on the North vy the

h Yot on tne an

4 by sl tarcpive Kous on the Scuth by the lunds of

George . Jonins, urd on tre Vet Ty the luats of Gaorze ¥, Johasan , containing

one weres more or lesns
o nive nud o Tald the snid lot or parcel of lund, together with the
righte privileges ,

emente und nppurteninces thereto belonging to te suid

e 3. Bulliven und nis feire ad nesigne forevers

hnt

Eruntor nforcasid coven

Mta dth the said i 3 Sullivan and Kds
hetes un sssigne

at 1t 1 lowhuily seized und p

cised, of suid lara in fec-simple
his e right to convey $%And thxt it in unencurbered.
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4nd the crantor aforesuid further covensnis und bind dteelf, iie successors |

“nd represeatatives o warrant und forever defend the title to

44 Lan to the |
a1 srentos and his heire and

signe sgetnet the Luwful cluime of all persons

In witness whereof the Fraciiin Tumnpke Compery ufowessid o corporstion

whtoh has no sssl, hus Hereunto omused it corporute nume to be s

rived on this
the 13 auy of Cotover, 1926,

Fraakiin Surapixe Compiny,

Sy % B Groen, Fresident.

e

i v hBay e

e tacta amrer 3
T 2y ot

State of tenneasee, "

Clanty or WALliomaon , Ansst

Sefora me John . Henterson 4 Notury Fublic in nd for the
ufsreatid Guly and e eulirly fpointed ceniseloned and Guelified
K, S, Oreeh witn whon 1 4m feracisily scqurioted ond who, ugon

tate and Coun
ermoniily o pe

5t noknsnledged $o be ke frenl ‘et af tre e klL Tupnoibe Compeny the wtnn
mamed bexgdinot @ corporatich umi Lt he e suoh premidenty boins aaticrized so
1050 executod U oreciinc inatrururt fox e giryosce Shekein oot ined, vy
lening the nune of the Gorpor. tion Ly nieeif 8 sheh prestivnis

Titnces uy Tund and scl A raxiin, in the Stete and County
aforeasts on trds the fnyof Cotober 1526,
(sa2)

John T Hendurson, ¥otary

sulto,
Comisston expires Cotober, 1927

iled for record thde the 20 duy of Decenber 1926 &t 10 A K.

Murrey, Redster
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THUR CROWNOVER.

vs. . E. Guthrie,
This was a suit
for specific performance of & contract
of sale of a house and lot at Brent-
wood. The defendant refused to com-
ply bega Inant nd  his
vendor, the Franklin Turnpike Com-
pany, had no record title to the prop-
erty, but had to rely on adverse ro-
sesslol The chancellor decreed that

complainant had valid, legal title and
rformance. The
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BIG AUCTION SALE

OF THE MRS. MARY ANDERSOP{
| 18§ |FARMS, 14 MILES NASHVILLE.| 36§ t!
A HILLSBORO ROAD, FIVE MILES A
FRANKLIN AT FOREST HOME i
For Division Among Heirs prcomees.
‘ TODAY
‘l‘uuday, June 11 at 10.30 a;m

FARM NO. 1. containne SB6 scre rich level fnst anu second
‘bome place sind will be sokl In thees tract  follows
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It is seldom, if ever, you have an opportunity to buy a farm and h-.llb this at your own price
and terms. Senhnl-yc",d'ln out, look the property over carefully, select your tract cr trasts,
and come to the sale prepared to bid. For the owners have given us written imstructions “to sell”,
and each and every tract will be sold absolutely without reserve. We consider right now a good
to buy good farm lands, a4 it is the opinion of a number of our most successful r-ltm,hnhnu

and bankers that we are right on the eve of an era of prosperity and much better prices for the
-,ulww'llh"m’lnhmlnﬁ expected within the next two yesrs, To
they have faith in their p: -lub-dhrnmhnn—ﬂy been - purchased
Nashville by our leading busiriess men, and others are considering buying this year. 5

m*x.hd-id"—b-d-dh-!'—y’l-—-lh- to suit,
present growing crops will go with the property, contract the present
ou-u-.h—ub-umd-d-mdnpn-lh{nl.a-m

Mr. and Mrs. John Stanley on premises will be glad to show the property.  For further
and ts be shown the property, phons, write or ses

S. B. BRYAN.
Mgr. Farm and Auction
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